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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
AUSTIN DIVISION

*

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, *
* Civil Case No.
Plaintiff, *

V. *

HOME RELIEF FOUNDATION, INC, *
also d/b/a National Home Retention, *

JOHN DICRISTOFALO, individually *
and as owner, president, and *
director of Home Relief Foundation, *
Inc, and *

JOSEPHINE AMANDA DICRISTOFALO, *

individually and as owner, secretary, *
and director of Home Relief *
Foundation, Inc, *
*
Defendants. *

PLAINTIFF FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION’'S COMPLAINT
FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC"), for its Complaint alleges:

1. The FTC brings this action under Sectidi3¢b) and 19 of #h Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.88 53(b) and 57b, and the 2009 Omnibus
Appropriations Act, Public Law 111-8, Section 626, 123 Stat. 524, 678 (Mar. 11, 2009)
(“Omnibus Act”), as clarified by the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and Disclosure
Act of 2009, Public Law 111-24, Section 511, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 2009) (“Credit

Card Act”), and amended by the Dodd-Frank Vikeet Reform and Consumer Protection Act,
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Public Law 111-203, Section 1097, 124 S1876, 2102-03 (July 21, 2010) (“Dodd-Frank
Act”), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, to obtain preliminaapd permanent injunctive relief, rescission or
reformation of contracts, résttion, the refund of monies paidisgorgement of ill-gotten
monies, and other equitable relief fdefendants’ acts or practicesviolation of Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), the Mortgagesistance Relief Services Rule (“MARS Rule”),
16 C.F.R. Part 322, recodified as Mortgagsistsnce Relief ServicsRegulation O”), 12
C.F.R. Part 1015, in connection with the mariggand sale of mortgge assistance relief
services.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject rtar jurisdictionpursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331, 1337(a),
and 1345; 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a), 53(ahd 57b; and Section 626 oktbmnibus Act, as clarified
by Section 511 of the Credit Card Act, andesutted by Section 1097 of the Dodd-Frank Act, 12
U.S.C. § 5538.

3. Venue is proper in this District und28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1)-(2) and (c)(1)-(2),
and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

4, Plaintiff FTC is an independent agermiythe United States Government created
by statute. 15 U.S.C. 88 41-58. The FT@eres Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptats or practices in or affecting commerce. In
addition, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5538, the ERbrces the MARS Rule, which requires
mortgage assistance relief services (“MARSY\pders to make certain disclosures, prohibits

certain representations, and generally fritéithe collection on advance fee.
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5. The FTC is authorized to initiate fedédistrict court poceedings, by its own
attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act; the MARS Rule; and Regulation O; and to secure
such equitable relief as may be appropriateaich case, including rescission or reformation of
contracts, restitution, the refund monies paid, and the disgement of ill-gotten monies. 15
U.S.C. 88 53(b), 56(a)(2)(AB), and 57b; § 626, 123 Stat. at 678, as clarified by § 511, 123
Stat. at 1763-64, and amended by § 1024, Stat. at 2102-03, 12 U.S.C. § 5538.

DEFENDANTS

6. DefendanHome Relief Foundation, Ing also doing business as National Home
Retention (collectively “Home Relief Foundation$)a registered Tesanon-profit corporation
with its principal place of business at 8200rtdkdViopac Expressway, Suite 244, Austin, Texas
78759. At altimes material to this Complaint, actiafpne or in concemith others, Home
Relief Foundation has advertised, marketed, pralid&ered to provide, carranged for others
to provide MARS, as definad 16 C.F.R. § 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. Home
Relief Foundation transacts or leansacted business in thissibict and throughout the United
States.

7. Home Relief Foundation has not obtairkd (c)(3) status from the Internal
Revenue Service, 26 U.S.C. 8§ 501(c). Hdredief Foundation operated for the economic
benefit of for-profit companies and/or privatagmns and was therefore a “corporation” within
the meaning of Sections 4 and 5(a}jted FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 44 and 45(a).

8. Defendantlohn DiCristofalo is or was an owner, president, and director of

Home Relief Foundation, Inc. At all times matet@athis Complaint, acting alone or in concert
with others, he formulated, direct, controlled, had the authority ¢ontrol, or participated in

the acts and practices of HorRelief Foundation, including thetacand practices set forth in
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this Complaint.John DiCristofalo resides in this Distriand, in connection with the matters
alleged herein, transacts or has transacteitésssin this Districand throughout the United
States.

9. DefendantAmanda DiCristofalo is or was an ownergsretary, and director of
Home Relief Foundation. At all ties material to this Compldiracting alone or in concert

with others, she formulated, direct
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13. In many instances, when marketing theiwvsmes, Defendants claimed to have an
affiliation with attorneys Gordon Hardin or thak Long. Mr. Hardin was only licensed to
practice law in Texas. After Mr. Hardin'sénse was suspended2@12, Defendants started
claiming to have an affiliation with Patrick Lon@dr. Long is also only licensed to practice law
in Texas.

14. Defendants marketed their loan modifioatservices primarily through Internet
websites that they controlled, including wwaemerelieffoundation.org, www.ghardinlaw.com,
and www.patlonglaw.com.

15. Defendants’ website www.homerelietfndation.org represented that Home
Relief Foundation could help “reduce mortgaggmeants and stop foreclosure.” The website
also represented that Home Relief Foundationld/ “negotiate a loan modification on your
behalf to reduce mortgage payments (yes, éwean Upside Down Loan) and reduce interest
rates.” The website further represented thelvgn if you are late or behind on mortgage we
CAN help.” The website then directed consumers to fill out the contact information or call to
speak with a “modification specialist.”

16. Defendants’ websites www.ghardinlaw.com and www.patlonglaw.com
represented:

a. “Has your mortgage payment become moira burden than you can afford? Are
you having to face foreclosure and the possible loss of your home?” Both
websites then directed consumers to spettk “loan modification experts” about
an option that is availabte people that are at risk of losing their homes to

foreclosure.



17.
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. “A Loan Modification is where your curngé lender modifies the terms of your

current mortgage with the goal of prowid terms that will work for you. This
can include changing the interest ratehaf loan, changing the term of the loan,
and even forgiving delinquency fees. Sititis is a modification of your existing
loan, and not a new loan, a new closinty mot be required. This option is now
available even to those who afelinquent in their payments.”

Defendants’ operation as being “a atlbration of financial and legal
professionals with countless years affpssional experience, providing solutions

that work for you.”

. “Itis possible to do your own modificatn, but without industry experts on your

side, it could become a long, expensirgn futile procss. Let our loan
modification experts use their industryestgth to make your Loan Modification
happen.”

Defendants’ website www.patlonglaw.com further represented:

. “We are continuing our efforts with finaiat institutions like yours, building and

maintaining our relationships with losstigation departments to help mitigate
the unprecedented number of potential foreclosures. Our success is your

success.”

. Defendants could help when lenders hadrbunwilling to work with consumers,

stating: “This is typical of the sort oésponse borrowers get when contacting a
lender directly. They say that you signed thortgage, so live with it. But when
WE CALL, its [sic] a different story. Our indiry contacts and legal team

provide the leverage necess#amyget lenders to workith us when borrowers get



the cold shoulder. Let us work on youhb# to work out asolution so you don’t

hit the ‘brick wall.”™
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consumer’s lender or servicer. For their loaodification services, Defglants’ representatives
told consumers they had to pay an advance fee, rangingssotto $4,000, with the typical
charge appearing to be $2,550.

23.  So that consumers would be able tio@ Defendants’ fee, Defendants often
instructed consumers to stopypay on their current mortgages. In one instance, Defendants
told a consumer that he was requiregttp paying on his mortga to obtain a loan
modification. In another ingahce, Defendants told a consumer that it would be difficult to
obtain a loan modification if h&as paying his loan on time. Dafiants failed to disclose that
consumers who stopped paying their mortgagesidosk their homes or damage their credit
ratings.

Post-Sales Pitch Communications

24. Defendants often sent consumers an email informing consumers that they were
“pre qualified for the Making Hmes Affordable Program.”
25.  The prequalification email contained documents for consumers to complete to
“start the modification process.” The docemis typically includé: (a) a Borrower’'s
Authorization form; (b) a Notice of Represenpatiform; (c) an Attorney/Client Engagement
Agreement; (d) an Auto Pay Credit Card Authation form; and (e) a Finance Application.
Home Relief Foundation directed consumer&atotheir completed forms to Home Relief
Foundation.
26. These documents failed to contain the following disclosures:
(1) “You may stop doing business with alsany time. You may accept or
reject the offer omortgage assistance we obtaionfryour lender [or servicer].

If you reject the offer, you do not haveday us. If you accept the offer, you will
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have to pay us [insert amount ortimed for calculating the amount] for our
services.” and
(2) “[Name of company] is notsaociated with the government, and our
service is not approved byelgovernment or your lender.”
27. Consumers were required to complatel return the documents and pay an
advance fee prior to obtaining the promiseghlonodifications with consumers’ lenders.

Post-Enrollment

28. In numerous instances, after purchasinfeDdants’ services, consumers received
an email from Defendant Amanda DiCristof#éhat confirmed receipt of the consumers’
documents and stated that a representatouddibe reviewing the consumers’ files.

29. Consumers also received automated stapgste emails from Defendants. Often,
the status update emails requested additionalrdents or informed consumers that they were
waiting on a response from the consumers’ lenders.

30. When consumers called to inquire abowt $status of their loan modifications,
Defendants’ representatives requested additidoaliments or told consumers that they were
waiting on a response from the consumers’ lenders.

31. In numerous instances, after consumersipased Defendants’ loan modification
services and paid the requested advance feésn@ants failed to obtain a loan modification to
reduce consumers’ mortgage interest rate or make consumers’ mortgage payments more
affordable.

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT
32.  Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C4%(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts

or practices in or affecting commerce.”



33.
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38. Intruth and in fact, the consumerobligated to make scheduled periodic

payments or any other payments pursuathederms of the consumer’s dwelling loan.

39. Therefore, Defendants’ reggentation as set forth in Paragraph 37 is false and
misleading and constitutes a deceptive act ortipem violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

VIOLATIONS OF THE MARS RULE

40. In 2009, Congress directed the FT(ptescribe rules prohibiting unfair or
deceptive acts or practices wispect to mortgage loans. Omnibus Act, 8§ 626, 123 Stat. at
678, as clarified by Credit Card Act, § 511, 123 Siall763-64. Pursuant to that direction, the
FTC promulgated the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.RrtR22, all but one of the provisions of which
became effective on December 29, 2010. The remaining provision, Section 322.5, became
effective on January 31, 2011.

41. The MARS Rule and Regulation O defitraortgage assistance relief service
provider” as “any person that provides, offergptovide, or arranges for others to provide, any
mortgage assistance relief service” other tti@ndwelling loan holdethe servicer of a
dwelling loan, or any agent eontractor of such individuar entity. 16 C.F.R. § 322.2,
recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2.

42.  Since January 31, 2011, the MARS Rutel &egulation O prohibit any mortgage
assistance relief service providesm requesting or receivingayment of any fee or other
consideration until the consumer has executedtéen agreement between the consumer and
the consumer’s loan holder or servicer thabiporates the offer that the provider obtained

from the loan holder or servicer. 16 C.F§322.5(a), recodified @ C.F.R. § 1015.5(a).

11



43. The MARS Rule and Regulation O prohibityamortgage assistae relief service

provider from misrepresenting, expressly or

12



home or damage their credit. 16 C.F.R. 8§ 322.

13
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CONSUMER INJURY

50. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result

15



B.

action, and to preserve the possibilityeffiective final relief,including, but not
limited to, a preliminary injunction, aorder freezing assets, immediate access,
and appointment of a receiver,

Enter a permanent injunction to prevértre violations of the FTC Act and the

16



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| certify that Plaintiff, Federal Trade Conmssion will serve contemporaneously a true
and correct copy of the foregoing documtnéach defendant by process server.

Dated: July 14, 2014
-1.15 TD -.0001-D3v9 6:00 TD .(rh ,as eg ,a7eF.2.6 667.5601 TI7 Tw ( 056Tc -.00i/50 T

17



